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Statement of directors’ responsibilities

the directors are required by the companies Act (chap. 386) 
to prepare financial statements in accordance with international 
financial reporting standards as adopted by the eu, which give 
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and its 
group at the end of each financial year and of the profit or loss of 
the company and its group for the year then ended.  in preparing 
the financial statements, the directors should:

•  select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently;
•  make judgements and estimates that are reasonable; and
•  prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis, 

unless it is inappropriate to presume that the company and the 
group will continue in business as a going concern.

the directors are responsible for ensuring that proper accounting 
records are kept which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any 
time the financial position of the company and the group and 
which enable the directors to ensure that the financial statements 
comply with the companies Act (chap. 386). this responsibility 
includes designing, implementing and maintaining such internal 
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. the directors are also 
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and the 
group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention 
and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Statement of responsibility pursuant to the Listing Rules issued  
by the Listing Authority

We confirm that to the best of our knowledge:

a.  in accordance with the listing rules, the financial statements 
give a true and fair view of the financial position of the company 
and its group as at 31 December 2011 and of their financial 
performance and cash flows for the year then ended, in 
accordance with international financial reporting standards as 
adopted by the EU; and

b.  in accordance with the listing rules, the directors’ report 
includes a fair review of the performance of the business and 
the position of the issuer and the undertakings included in the 
consolidation taken as a whole, together with a description of 
the principal risks and uncertainties that they face.

melo Hili
chief executive officer
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Corporate governance statement of compliance

IntRoductIon
pursuant to the listing rules as issued by the listing Authority 
of the malta financial services Authority, premier capital p.l.c 
(the ‘company’) is hereby reporting on the extent of its adoption 
of the code of principles of good corporate governance (the 
‘principles’) contained in Appendix 5.1 of the listing rules.

the Board acknowledges that the code does not dictate or 
prescribe mandatory rules but recommends principles of good 
practice. Nonetheless, the Board strongly believes that the 
principles are in the best interest of the shareholders and other 
stakeholders since they ensure that the Directors, management 
and employees of the group adhere to internationally recognised 
high standards of corporate governance. 

the group currently has a corporate decision-making and 
supervisory structure that is tailored to suit the group’s 
requirements and designed to ensure the existence of adequate 
checks and balances within the group, whilst retaining an 
element of flexibility, particularly in view of the size of the group 
and the nature of the its business. the group adheres to the 
principles, except for those instances where there exist particular 
circumstances that warrant non-adherence thereto, or at least 
postponement for the time being. 

Additionally, the Board recognises that, by virtue of listing 
rule 5.101, the company is exempt from making available the 
information required in terms of Listing Rules 5.97.1 to 5.97.3; 
5.97.6 and 5.97.7.

the BoARd of dIRectoRS
the Board of Directors of the company is responsible for 
the overall long-term direction of the group, in particular in 
being actively involved in overseeing the systems of control 
and financial reporting and that the group communicates 
effectively with the market.

the Board of Directors meets regularly, with a minimum of four 
times annually, and is currently composed of six members, two of 
which are completely independent from the company or any other 
related companies.

executIve dIRectoR
mr. carmelo sive melo Hili (chief executive officer) 

non-executIve dIRectoRS
mr marin Hili (chairman)
mr Joseph sive Beppe Hili
mr richard Abdilla castillo
mr charles J. farrugia
Dr Ann fenech (appointed 14th march 2012)

on 1st December, 2011, mr Jesmond mizzi resigned from the offices 
of Non-executive Director and chairman of the Audit committee. 
His resignation was necessary due to the recently amended listing 
rules providing that ‘no person may act as a Director of an issuer of a 
listed security if the person concerned is already acting as a director, 
partner or employee and is authorised to provide investment advice 
and/or portfolio management in terms of part B of the investment 
services rules for investment services providers in an entity licenced 
in terms of the investments services Act’ (listing rule 3.33). 

the Board meetings are attended by the chief financial officer 
of the group in order for the Board to have direct access to the 
financial operation of the group. this is intended to, inter alia, 
ensure that the policies and strategies adopted by the Board are 
effectively implemented.

AudIt commIttee
the terms of reference of the Audit committee, which were 
approved by the listing Authority of the malta financial services 
Authority, are modelled on the principles set out in the listing rules. 
the Audit committee assists the Board in fulfilling its supervisory and 
monitoring responsibility by reviewing the group financial statements 
and disclosures, monitoring the system of internal control established 
by management as well as the audit processes. 

the Board of Directors established the Audit committee, which 
meets regularly, with a minimum of four times annually, and is 
currently composed of the following individuals:

mr richard Abdilla castillo (appointed 2nd December, 2011) 
mr carmelo sive melo Hili
mr charles J. farrugia
Jesmond mizzi (resigned 1st December 2011)

mr charles J. farrugia is an independent non-executive director 
of the company who the Board considers to be competent in 
accounting and/or auditing in terms of the listing rules.
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the chief financial officer of the company is also present during the 
Audit committee meetings.

the Audit committee met four times during the year 2011. 
However, communication with and between the secretary, top level 
management and the committee is ongoing and considerations 
that required the committee’s attention were acted upon between 
meetings and decided by the members (where necessary) through 
electronic circulation and correspondence.

InteRnAL contRoL
While the Board is ultimately responsible for the group’s internal 
controls as well as their effectiveness, authority to operate the 
group is delegated to the chief executive officer.

the group’s system of internal controls is designed to manage all 
the risks in the most appropriate manner. However, such controls 
cannot provide an absolute elimination of all business risks or 
losses. therefore, the Board, inter alia, reviews the effectiveness of 
the group’s system of internal controls in the following manner:

1. reviewing the group’s strategy on an on-going basis as well as 
setting the appropriate business objectives in order to enhance 
value for all stakeholders;

2. implementing an appropriate organisational structure for 
planning, executing, controlling and monitoring business 
operations in order to achieve Group objectives;

3. Appointing and monitoring the chief executive officer whose 
function is to manage the operations of the group; and

4. identifying and ensuring that significant risks are  
managed satisfactorily.

coRpoRAte SocIAL ReSponSIBILIty
the Board is mindful of and seeks to adhere to sound principles 
of corporate social responsibility in their daily management 
practices, which is also extended throughout the company’s 
subsidiary companies. there is continuing commitment to operate 
the business ethically at all times, at the same time as contributing 
to economic development whilst improving the quality of life of its 
employees and their families together with the local community 
and society at large.

the subsidiary companies in estonia, greece, latvia, lithuania and 
malta organise an annual ‘mcHappy Day’ whereby events are 

organised and funds collected which are then  passed on to  
a local charity. in addition, the malta subsidiary contributes 
additional funds for each Happy meal sold during the event and 
also provides constant support to child institutions and hospitals 
through the provision of free meals and toys.

the local subsidiary, premier restaurants malta limited assists 
annually in the olympic Day run with the aim of promoting 
physical activity, and during which a donation is presented  
to the malta olympic committee. this incentive has now 
 also been partially adopted by the lithuanian subsidiary, which  
offers sponsorship of an annual olympic day run promoting 
physical activity.

the latvia chapter of rmHc (ronald mcDonald House charity), 
set up by the group, which operates a care mobile which tours the 
country providing medical services to children in poorly served 
areas providing a range of medical services with a state-of-the art 
mobile clinic continues to operate.
 
the charity is represented in fifty one countries and is responsible  
for providing grants and services to childrens’ well-being programs 
around the world and premier restaurants malta limited has, this 
year, resolved to set up a local chapter, providing services to the 
maltese society.

in carrying on its business, the group is fully aware of its  
obligation to preserving the environment and has, in fact,  
put in place a number of policies aimed at respecting the 
environment and reducing waste.

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf  
on 16 April, 2012 by:

mr marin Hili  mr carmelo sive melo Hili
chairman  chief executive officer
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StAtementS of compRehenSIve Income 

                                                      Group                                              Holding
Notes 2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 

revenue 5  72,652,250  51,695,336  -  - 
cost of sales  (24,982,964)  (17,609,386)  -  - 

                                                                            

gross profit  47,669,286  34,085,950  -  - 
other operating income 6  172,516  655,678  2,267,469  1,644,782 
Distribution expenses  (38,407,764)  (27,537,256)  -  - 
Administrative expenses  (7,521,269)  (5,053,936)  (2,144,091)  (1,676,137)

                                                                            

operating profit/(loss)  1,912,769  2,150,436  123,378  (31,355)
other expenses 30  (201,506)  -  -  - 
investment income 7  5,009,007  421,121  1,958,065  7,822,343 
investment losses 8  (1,007,498)  -  (7,498)  - 
finance costs 9  (2,657,651)  (2,193,004)  (2,637,708)  (2,582,740)

                                                                            
profit/(loss) before tax 10  3,055,121  378,553  (563,763)  5,208,248 
income tax (expense)/credit 13  (454,031)  (1,030,325)  177,663  (2,022,920)

                                                                            

profit/(loss) for the year  2,601,090  (651,772)  (386,100)  3,185,328 
                                                                                                                                                                                        

total comprehensive 
income/(expense) for the year  2,601,090  (651,772)  (386,100)  3,185,328 

                                                                                                                                                                                        

Attributable to:
owners of the company  2,735,198  (1,117,936)
Non controlling interest who are also 
owners of the company  (49,871)  173,354 

other non controlling interest  (84,237)  292,810 
                                      

 2,601,090  (651,772)
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StAtementS of fInAncIAL poSItIon

                                            Group                                         Holding

Notes
2011

Eur
2010

Eur
2011

Eur
2010

Eur

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Non-current assets

goodwill  14,606,999  14,606,999  -   -  
intangible assets 15  10,348,455  10,900,645  9,808,101  10,367,819 
property, plant and equipment 16  35,773,992  27,417,690  142,816  92,927 
investment in subsidiaries 18  -   -   27,756,791  24,469,174 
loans and receivables 18  -   -   11,401,095  13,824,885 
Deferred tax assets 17  1,863,239  1,843,892  1,742,480  1,787,789 
prepayments 19  1,646,043  458,910  -   -  

                                                                            
 64,238,728  55,228,136  50,851,283  50,542,594 

                                                                            

Current assets
inventories 20  1,265,946  1,167,192  -  - 
loans and receivables 18  293,378  1,282,468  1,587,029  2,214,883 
trade and other receivables 21  1,378,056  1,884,855  2,264,654  3,985,852 
current tax asset  1,888,540  1,909,782  1,699,259  1,824,819 
financial asset  
at fair value
through profit or loss 18  -  989,997  -  989,997 
cash at bank and on hand 28  6,851,156  6,123,247  2,677,497  2,486,915 

                                                                            
 11,677,076  13,357,541  8,228,439  11,502,466 

                                                                            

Total assets  75,915,804  68,585,677  59,079,722  62,045,060 
                                                                            

Current liabilities
trade and other payables 22  9,631,131  7,359,204  1,513,638  1,401,157 
other financial liabilities 23  254,212  1,086,686  377,479  327,806 
Bank overdrafts and loans 24  4,692,485  1,867,159  2,427,702  1,820,725 
current tax liabilities  -  318,915  -  -  

                                                                            
 14,577,828  10,631,964  4,318,819  3,549,688 
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                                             Group                                         Holding

Notes
2011

Eur
2010

Eur
2011

Eur
2010

Eur

Non-current liabilities

Bank loans 24  16,718,075  15,027,288  12,121,215  14,545,454 
Debt securities  
in issue

25  24,522,262  24,464,357  24,522,262  24,464,357 

other financial liabilities 23  185,009  390,702  281,639  390,702 
Deferred tax liabilities 17  3,828,552  3,949,636  3,399,508  3,622,480 

                                                                            
 45,253,898  43,831,983  40,324,624  43,022,993 

                                                                            

Total liabilities  59,831,726  54,463,947  44,643,443  46,572,681 

                                                                            

Net assets  16,084,078  14,121,730  14,436,279  15,472,379 
                                                                            

EQUITY
share capital 26  13,574,700  13,574,700  13,574,700  13,574,700 
exchange translation reserves  8,048  8,306  -   -  
other equity 27  (73,567)  25,143  212,351  212,351 
retained earnings/
(accumulated losses)  2,096,949  (98,475)  649,228  1,685,328 

                                                                            
equity attributable to owners  
of the company  15,606,130  13,509,674  14,436,279  15,472,379 
Non controlling interest  477,948  612,056  -   -  

                                                                            
Total equity  16,084,078  14,121,730  14,436,279  15,472,379 

                                                                                                                                                                                        

these financial statements were approved by the board of directors, 
authorised for issue on 16 April 2012 and signed on its behalf by:

marin Hili         melo Hili
chairman         chief executive officer
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StAtementS of chAngeS In equIty
gRoup

Share
capital

Eur

Exchange
translation

reserves
Eur

Other
equity

Eur

Retained
earnings/

(accumulated
losses)

Eur

Total
attributable
to owners of

the parent
Total

Eur

Non
Controlling

interests
Eur

Total
Eur

Balance at  
1 January 2010  1,747,030  9,961  12,169,011  2,074,088  16,000,090  623,549  16,623,639 
issue of share capital  500,000  -  -  -  500,000  -  500,000 
reduction in share capital  (716,353)  -  212,351  504,002  -  -  - 
capitalised loans  
(note 29)  2,000,000  -  (2,000,000)  -  -  -  - 
capitalised equity  
(note 29)  10,044,023  -  (10,044,023)  -  -  -  - 
Dividends (note 14)  -  -  -  (1,500,000)  (1,500,000)  (848,482)  (2,348,482)
exchange differences 
on translation of foreign 
operations  -  (1,655)  -    -   (1,655)  -  (1,655)
movement in legal reserves  -  -  58,629  (58,629)  -  -  - 
capital contribution made by 
parent attributable to
non controlling interests 
(note 27)  -  -  (370,825)  -  (370,825)  370,825  - 
(loss) / profit for the year  -  -  -  (1,117,936)  (1,117,936)  466,164  (651,772)

                                                                                                                                     

Balance at 1 January 2011  13,574,700  8,306  25,143  (98,475)  13,509,674  612,056  14,121,730 
Dividends (note 14)  -  -  -  (650,000)  (650,000)  -  (650,000)
exchange differences 
on translation of foreign 
operations  -  (258)  -  -  (258)  -  (258)
movement in legal reserve  -  -  (98,710)  98,710  -  -  - 
pre-acquisition reserves  -  -  -  11,516  11,516  -  11,516 
profit / (loss) for the year  -  -  -  2,735,198  2,735,198  (134,108)  2,601,090 

                                                                                                                                     

Balance at  
31 December 2011  13,574,700  8,048  (73,567)  2,096,949  15,606,130  477,948  16,084,078 
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StAtementS of chAngeS In equIty
hoLdIng

Share
capital

Eur

Retained 
earnings/

(accumulated
losses)

Eur

Other
equity

Eur
Total

Eur

Balance at 1 January 2010  1,747,030  (504,002)  12,044,023  13,287,051 
issue of share capital  500,000  -  -  500,000 
reduction in share capital  (716,353)  504,002  212,351  - 
capitalised loans (note 29)  2,000,000  -  (2,000,000)  - 
Dividends (note 14)  -  (1,500,000)  -  (1,500,000)
capitalised equity (note 29)  10,044,023  -  (10,044,023)  - 
profi t for the year  -   3,185,328  -   3,185,328 

                                                                            

Balance at 1 January 2011  13,574,700  1,685,328  212,351  15,472,379 
Dividends (note 14)  -  (650,000)  -  (650,000)
loss for the year  -  (386,100)  -  (386,100)

                                                                            

Balance at 31 December 2011  13,574,700  649,228  212,351  14,436,279 
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StAtementS of cASh fLowS

                                                     Group                                                     Holding
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 

Cash fl ows from operating activities
profi t/(loss) before tax  3,055,121  378,553  (563,763)  5,208,248 
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation  4,354,041  3,280,515  637,228  626,780 
loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment  81,825  12,369  -  - 
interest expense  2,513,251  1,768,469  2,425,859  2,158,205 
interest income  (53,827)  (406,844)  (614,413)  (694,039)
Amortisation of bond issue expenses  57,907  43,431  57,907  43,431 
fair value loss of interest rate swap  86,493  315,764  86,493  315,764 
provision for impairment of
other receivables  1,000,000  -  -  - 
loss on disposal of investment held at 
fair value thourgh profi t or loss  7,498  -  7,498  - 
investment income  -  -  (1,000,000)  (7,114,027)
Bargain purchase gain on business 
combination  (4,955,180)  -  -  - 
increase in fair value of investments  -  (14,277)  -  (14,277)

                                                                            
operating profi t before working capital  6,147,129  5,377,980  1,036,809  530,085 
movement
movement in inventories  169,752  (28,311)  -  - 
movement in trade and other receivables  85,020  (81,708)  1,721,201  948,362 
movement in trade and other payables  (818,377)  (102,965)  45,826  (66,922)

                                                                            
cash fl ows from operations  5,583,524  5,164,996  2,803,836  1,411,525 
interest paid  (2,446,600)  (903,467)  (2,359,208)  (883,203)
income tax (paid)/refund  (892,135)  (618,925)  125,560  - 

                                                                            
Net cash fl ows from operating activities  2,244,789  3,642,604  570,188  528,322 
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StAtementS of cASh fLowS (contInued)

                                                 Group                                                      Holding
2011 2010 2011 2010

Cash flows from investing activities
purchase of property, plant and 
equipment  (6,643,889)  (10,587,807)  (127,399)  (104,815)
proceeds from sale of property,
plant and equipment  126,574  138,192  -  - 
purchase of intangible assets  (123,389)  (2,389)  -  -  
purchase of investment in subsidiary  -  -   (3,287,617)  (1,000,002)
capital contribution to subsidiary  -  -   -  (1,750,000)
proceeds from sale of financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss  982,499  -  982,499  - 
purchase of financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss  -  (975,720)  -  (975,720)
movement in related party balances  -  (792,703)  3,051,643  (12,040,359)
interest received  53,827  330,468  614,413  123,332 
Dividends received  -  -  1,000,000  2,259,000 
Net cash inflow on acquisition
of subsidiary  345,440  -  -  - 

                                                                            
Net cash flows from investing activities  (5,258,938)  (11,889,959)  2,233,539  (13,488,564)

                                                                            
Cash flows from financing activities
Bonds issued  -  24,420,926  -  24,420,926 
movement in bank loans  3,029,899  (6,859,900)  (1,818,181)  (6,823,272)
movement in related party balances  725,945  (190,490)  (145,883)  (192,395)
issue of share capital  -  500,000  -  500,000 
Dividends paid  (1,500,000)  (1,500,000)  (650,000)  (1,500,000)

                                                                            
Net cash from financing activities  2,255,844  16,370,536  (2,614,064)  16,405,259 

                                                                            
Net movement in cash and cash  (758,305)  8,123,181  189,663  3,445,017 
equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the year  6,116,784  (2,005,920)  2,484,372  (960,645)
Effect of foreign exchange changes
on cash and cash equivalents  -  (477)   -     -   

                                                                            
Cash and cash equivalents at the 
end of the year (note 28)  5,358,479  6,116,784  2,674,035  2,484,372 

                                                                            
                                                                            

 5,358,479  6,116,784  2,674,035  2,484,372 
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Notes to the financial statements 

1. BASIS of pRepARAtIon
the financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost 
basis and in accordance with international financial reporting 
standards as adopted by the eu. the significant accounting 
policies adopted are set out below.

2. SIgnIfIcAnt AccountIng poLIcIeS 
BASIS of conSoLIdAtIon
the consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial 
statements of the holding company and entities controlled by 
the holding company (its subsidiaries). control is achieved where 
the company has the power to govern the financial and operating 
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. 

the results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year 
are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective 
date of disposal, as appropriate. Where necessary, in preparing 
these consolidated financial statements, appropriate adjustments 
are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their 
accounting policies in line with those used by the group entities. 

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are 
eliminated on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in the net assets or liabilities of 
consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately from the group’s 
equity therein. Non-controlling interests consists of the amount 
of those interests at the date of the original business combination 
and the non-controlling interests share of changes in equity 
since the date of the combination. losses applicable to the non-
controlling interests in excess of the non-controlling interests in 
the subsidiary’s equity are allocated against the interests of the 
group except to the extent that the non-controlling interests has a 
binding obligation and is able to make an additional investment to 
cover the losses.

BuSIneSS comBInAtIonS
Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition 
method. the consideration transferred in a business combination 
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the 
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the group, 
liabilities incurred by the group to the former owners of the 
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the group in exchange 
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally 
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the 
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except where the 
exceptions to the recognition or measurement principles apply.

goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration 
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the 
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity 
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date 
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. 
if, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the 
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum 
of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling 
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously 
held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and 
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net 
assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at 
fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of 
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. the 
choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction 
basis. other types of non-controlling interests are measured at fair 
value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another ifrs.

the policy described above is applied to all business combinations that 
take place on or after 1 January 2010

goodwILL
goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as 
established at the date of acquisition of the business less accumulated 
impairment losses, if any.

for the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to 
each of the group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of 
the combination. 

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is 
tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is 
indication that the unit may be impaired. if the recoverable amount 
of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the 
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount 
of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets 
of the unit pro rata based on the carrying amount of each asset in 
the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly 
in profit or loss in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed 
in subsequent periods.

on disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable 
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or 
loss on disposal.
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poLIcIeS (contInued)
InveStment In SuBSIdIARIeS
A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the company. control 
is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of the 
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

investment in subsidiaries in the company’s financial statements 
are stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 
Dividends from the investments are recognised in profit or loss.

InteReStS In joIntLy contRoLLed entItIeS
A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the group 
and other parties undertake an economic activity that is subject 
to joint control that is when the strategic financial and operating 
decisions relating to the activities require the unanimous consent 
of the parties sharing control. Joint venture arrangements which 
involve the establishment of an entity in which each venturer has 
an interest are referred to as jointly controlled entities.

the group reports its interests in jointly controlled entities using 
proportionate consolidation, from the date that joint control 
commences until the date that joint control ceases. the group’s 
share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of the jointly 
controlled entity are combined with similar items in the group’s 
financial statements on a line-by-line basis. 

pRopeRty, pLAnt And equIpment
the group’s property, plant and equipment are classified into the 
following classes – land and buildings, improvement to premises, 
motor vehicles, plant and equipment and other equipment.  the 
holding company’s property, plant and equipment are classified 
into motor vehicles and furniture, fixtures and other equipment.

property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost. 
subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount when it 
is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will 
flow to the group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 
expenditure on repairs and maintenance of property, plant and 
equipment is recognised as an expense when incurred.
land and buildings are held for use in the production or supply of 
goods or services or for administrative purposes. subsequent to 
initial recognition, land and buildings are stated at cost less any 
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

other tangible assets are stated at cost less any accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

property, plant and equipment are derecognised on disposal or 
when no future economic benefits are expected from their use 
or disposal. gains or losses arising from derecognition represent 
the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the 
carrying amount, and are included in profit or loss in the period  
of derecognition.

pRopeRtIeS In the couRSe of conStRuctIon
properties in the course of construction for production, supply, 
or administrative purposes are classified as property, plant and 
equipment and are carried at cost, less any identified impairment 
loss.  for qualifying assets, cost includes borrowing costs capitalised 
in accordance with the group’s accounting policy on borrowing costs.  
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other property 
assets, commence when the assets are available for use.

depRecIAtIon
Depreciation commences when the depreciable assets are 
available for use and is charged to profit or loss so as to write off 
the cost, less any estimated residual value, over their estimated 
useful lives, using the straight-line method, on the following bases:

Buildings 2.5% - 5% per annum
improvements  
to premises

5% - 20% per annum in line  
with lease expiry

motor vehicles 12.5% - 33.3% per annum
plant and equipment 10% - 50% per annum
furniture, fixtures and  
other equipment

10% - 25% per annum

No depreciation is charged on land.

the depreciation method applied, the residual value and the useful 
life are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each 
reporting period.

IntAngIBLe ASSetS
An intangible asset is recognised if it is probable that the expected 
future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to 
the group and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

intangible assets are initially measured at cost, being the fair value 
at the acquisition date for intangible assets acquired in a business 
combination. expenditure on an intangible asset is recognised 
as an expense in the period when it is incurred unless it forms 
part of the cost of the asset that meets the recognition criteria 
or the item is acquired in a business combination and cannot be 
recognised as an intangible asset, in which case it forms part of 
goodwill at the acquisition date.

the useful life of intangible assets is assessed to determine 
whether it is finite or indefinite. intangible assets with a finite 
useful life are amortised. Amortisation is charged to profit or loss 
so as to write off the cost of intangible assets less any estimated 
residual value, over the estimated useful lives. the amortisation 
method applied, the residual value and the useful life are reviewed, 
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.
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IntAngIBLe ASSetS (contInued) 
intangibles are derecognised on disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected from their use or disposal. gains or losses 
arising from derecognition represent the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount, and are included in 
profit or loss in the period of derecognition.

(i) Support ServiCeS liCeNCe
After initial recognition, support services licence is carried at 
cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. support services licence is written off to profit 
or loss by equal installments over the term of the support services 
agreement with the subsidiaries, being 20 years.

(ii) Computer Software
in determining the classification of an asset that incorporates both 
intangible and tangible elements, judgement is used in assessing 
which element is more significant. computer software which is 
an integral part of the related hardware is classified as property, 
plant and equipment and accounted for in accordance with the 
group’s accounting policy on property, plant and equipment. 
Where the software is not an integral part of the related hardware, 
this is classified as an intangible asset and carried at cost less 
any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment 
losses.  computer software classified as an intangible asset is 
amortised on a straight-line basis over three to five years.

(iii) aCquired rightS
Acquired rights are classified as intangible assets. After 
initial recognition, acquired rights are carried at cost less any 
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment 
losses. Acquired rights are amortised on a straight-line basis over 
thirty-five to forty years. 

(iv) fraNChiSee feeS
After initial recognition, franchisee fees are carried at cost less 
any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment 
losses. franchisee fees are written off to profit or loss by equal 
instalments over the term of the franchisee agreement.

otheR fInAncIAL InStRumentS
financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when 
the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument. financial assets and financial liabilities are initially 
recognised at their fair value plus directly attributable transaction 
costs for all financial assets or financial liabilities not classified at 
fair value through profit or loss.

financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount 
presented in the statement of financial position when the group has a 
legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and intends 
either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the 
liability simultaneously.

financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the 
cash flows from the financial assets expire or when the entity transfers 
the financial asset and the transfer qualifies for derecognition. 

financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished. this 
occurs when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, 
cancelled or expires.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual 
interest in the assets of the group after deducting all of its 
liabilities. equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds 
received, net of direct issue costs. 

(i) trade aNd other reCeivableS
trade and other receivables are classified with current assets and are 
stated at their nominal value. Appropriate allowances for estimated 
irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profit or loss when there is 
objective evidence that the asset is impaired. 

(ii) iNveStmeNtS
the group’s investments are classified into the following categories - 
loans and receivables and financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss. the classification depends on the purpose for which the 
investments were acquired.

loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with 
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market other than those that are held for trading or are designated 
upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss or 
as available-for-sale financial assets or those for which the group 
may not recover substantially all of its initial investment other than 
because of credit deterioration.

After initial recognition, loans and receivables are recognised at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. gains and 
losses are recognised in profit or loss when the financial asset is 
derecognised, or impaired, or through the amortisation process.

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are those that 
are held for trading purposes or those financial assets that are so 
designated upon initial recognition.  After initial recognition, financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at their 
fair value.  gains and losses arising from a change in fair value are 
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Where applicable, dividend income on financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss is recognised with other dividend income, if any, 
arising on other financial assets.  Where applicable, interest income 
on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is disclosed 
separately within the line item investment income.  fair value gains 
and losses are recognised within the line items investment income or 
investment losses as appropriate.
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otheR fInAncIAL InStRumentS (contInued)
(iii) baNk borrowiNgS
subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing bank loans are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Bank 
loans are carried at face value due to their market rate of interest.

subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing bank overdrafts are 
carried at face value in view of their short-term maturities.

(iv) other borrowiNgS
subsequent to initial recognition, other borrowings are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method unless the effect 
of discounting is immaterial.

(v) trade aNd other payableS
trade and other payables are classified with current liabilities and are 
stated at their nominal value, unless the effect of discounting  
is material, in which case trade payables are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method.

(vi) ShareS iSSued by the CompaNy
ordinary shares issued by the company are classified as  
equity instruments.

(vii) derivative fiNaNCial iNStrumeNtS
Derivative financial assets and derivative financial liabilities are 
classified as held for trading unless they are designated and effective 
hedging instruments. During the year under review and during the 
prior year, the group did not designate any of its derivative financial 
instruments in a hedging relationship for accounting purposes. After 
initial recognition, derivative financial instruments are measured at 
their fair value. gains and losses arising from a change in fair value are 
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. 

InventoRIeS
inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. the 
group considers the nature and use of the inventory when calculating 
the cost of inventories. 

cost is calculated using the weighted average method. cost 
comprises expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories and other 
costs incurred in bringing inventories to their present location and 
condition. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price 
in the ordinary course of business less the costs to be incurred in 
marketing, selling and distribution.

pRovISIonS
provisions are recognised when the group has a present legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that an 
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required 
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation. provisions are measured at the directors’ 
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present  
obligation at the end of the reporting period. if the effect of the time 
value of money is material, provisions are determined by

discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that 
reflect current market assessments of the time value of money 
and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. provisions 
are not recognised for future operating losses.

ImpAIRment
All assets are tested for impairment except for deferred tax assets 
and inventories. At the end of each reporting period, the carrying 
amount of assets, including cash-generating units, is reviewed to 
determine whether there is any indication or objective evidence of 
impairment, as appropriate, and if any such indication or objective 
evidence exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated.

intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets 
that are not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually, 
irrespective of whether an indication of impairment exists.

An impairment loss is the amount by which the carrying amount of an 
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. 

for loans and receivables, if there is objective evidence that an 
impairment loss has been incurred, the loss is measured as the 
difference between the assets’ carrying amount and the present value 
of estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective 
interest rate. the carrying amount of the asset is reduced directly. 

the impairment loss on investments in equity instruments that do 
not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair 
value cannot be reliably measured is measured as the difference 
between the carrying amount and the present value of the 
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate 
of return for a similar financial instrument.

in the case of other assets tested for impairment, the recoverable 
amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell (which is the 
amount obtainable from sale in an arm’s length transaction 
between knowledgeable, willing parties, less the costs of disposal) 
and value in use (which is the present value of the future cash 
flows expected to be derived, discounted using a pre-tax discount 
rate that reflects current market assessment of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the asset). Where the recoverable 
amount is less than the carrying amount, the carrying amount of 
the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount, as calculated.

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of 
an individual asset, then the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs is determined. for 
cash-generating units, where the recoverable amount is less than 
the carrying amount, the carrying amount of the assets of the 
unit is reduced first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill 
allocated, and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata on the 
basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. impairment 
losses are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
for loans and receivables, if, in a subsequent period the amount of the 
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively 
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the 
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed directly.
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ImpAIRment (contInued)
in the case of other assets tested for impairment, an impairment loss 
recognised in a prior year is reversed if there has been a change in the 
estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the 
last impairment loss was recognised.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying 
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its 
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does 
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined 
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.

An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a 
subsequent period.

impairment reversals are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

the impairment loss on investments in equity instruments that do not 
have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value 
cannot be reliably measured is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Revenue RecognItIon
revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received 
or receivable for goods sold in the normal course of business, net 
of value-added tax and discounts, where applicable. revenue is 
recognised to the extent that it is probable that future economic 
benefits will flow to the company and these can be measured reliably. 
the following specific recognition criteria must also be met before 
revenue is recognised:

(i) Sale of goodS
revenue from the sale of goods is recognised on the transfer of the 
risks and rewards of ownership, which generally coincides with the 
time of delivery.

(ii) iNtereSt iNCome
interest income is accrued on a timely basis, by reference to the 
principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, 
which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash 
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the assets 
net carrying amount.

(iii) other operatiNg iNCome aNd CommiSSioNS
other operating income and commissions are accounted for on an 
accruals basis.

(iv) divideNd iNCome
Dividend income is recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive 
payment has been established and provided that it is probable that the 
economic benefits will flow to the group and the amount of income 
can be measured reliably.

BoRRowIng coStS
Borrowing costs include the costs incurred in obtaining  
external financing. 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets 
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready 
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised from the time that 
expenditure for these assets and borrowing costs are being 
incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare these assets 
for their intended use or sale are in progress. Borrowing costs are 
capitalised until such time as the assets are substantially ready for 
their intended use or sale. Borrowing costs are suspended during 
extended periods in which active development is interrupted. All 
other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in profit or 
loss in the period in which they are incurred. 

LeASeS
leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the 
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership to the lessee. 

All other leases are classified as operating leases. lease 
classification is made at the inceptions of the lease, which is 
the earlier of the date of the lease agreement and the date of 
commitment by the parties to the principal provision of the lease.

rentals payable under operating leases, less the aggregate benefit 
of incentives received from the lessor, are recognised as an 
expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term, 
unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time 
pattern of the user’s benefit. 

tAxAtIon
current and deferred tax is charged or credited to profit or loss, 
except when it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive 
income or directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also 
dealt with in other comprehensive income or equity. 

current tax is based on the taxable result for the period. the 
taxable result for the period differs from the result as reported in 
profit or loss because it excludes items which are non-assessable 
or disallowed and it further excludes items that are taxable or 
deductible in other periods. it is calculated using tax rates that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 
reporting period. 

Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability 
method in respect of temporary differences arising from 
differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in 
the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in 
the computation of taxable profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences and deferred tax assets, including deferred 
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tAxAtIon (contInued)
tax assets for the carry forward of unused tax losses, are recognised 
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available 
against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the 
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of 
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business 
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that 
affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit. 

Deferred tax liabilities are not recognised for taxable temporary 
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and interests in 
joint ventures where the company is able to control the timing of 
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the 
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary 
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and interests 
in joint ventures where it is probable that taxable profit will be 
available against which the temporary difference can be utilised 
and it is probable that the temporary difference will reverse in the 
foreseeable future.

the carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end 
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to 
allow all or part of the asset to be utilised.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to 
apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is 
settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

current tax assets and liabilities are offset when the group has a 
legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and 
intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and 
settle the liability simultaneously.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when the company 
has a legally enforceable right to set off its current tax assets and 
liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income 
taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same 
taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either to 
settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise 
the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future 
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or 
assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

empLoyee BenefItS
the group contributes towards the state pension in accordance 
with local legislation. the only obligation of the group is to make 
the required contributions.  costs are expensed in the period in 
which they are incurred.

cuRRency tRAnSLAtIon
the financial statements of the company are presented in its 
functional currency, the euro, being the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the company operates. in 
preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, 
transactions in currency other than the company’s functional 
currency are recognised at the rate of exchange prevailing at the 
date of transaction. 

transactions denominated in currencies other than the functional 
currency are translated at the exchange rates ruling on the date 
of transaction. monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
currencies other than the functional currency are re-translated 
to the functional currency at the exchange rate ruling at year-
end. exchange differences arising on the settlement and on the 
re-translation of monetary items are dealt with in profit or loss. 
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies 
other than the functional currency that are measured at fair value 
are re-translated using the exchange rate ruling on the date the 
fair value was determined. 

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other 
than the functional currency that are measured in terms of historical 
cost are not re-translated. exchange differences arising on the 
translation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included 
in profit or loss for the period, except for differences arising on the 
re-translation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and 
losses are recognised in other comprehensive income. for such non-
monetary items, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also 
recognised in other comprehensive income.
foreign exchange gains and losses are included within operating 
profit, except in the case of significant exchange differences arising on 
investing or financing activities, which are classified within investment 
income, investment losses or finance costs as appropriate.

for the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, 
income and expenses of the group’s foreign operations are 
translated to euro at the average exchange rates. Assets and 
liabilities of the group’s foreign operations are translated to 
euro at the exchange rate ruling at the date of the statement of 
financial position. exchange differences are recognised in other 
comprehensive income accumulated in a separate component of 
equity. such differences are reclassified from equity to profit or 
loss in the period in which the foreign operation is disposed of. 

cASh And cASh equIvALentS
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand 
deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form 
an integral part of the group’s cash management are included as a 
component of cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the 
statement of cash flows and are presented in current liabilities in 
the statement of financial position.

dIvIdendS
Dividends to holders of equity instruments are recognised as 
liabilities in the period in which they are declared.
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dIvIdendS (contInued)
Dividends to holders of equity instruments, are debited directly to 
equity. Dividends relating to a financial liability, or to a component 
that is a financial liability, are recognised as an expense in profit or 
loss and are presented in the statement of comprehensive income 
with finance costs. 

3. judgementS In AppLyIng AccountIng 
poLIcIeS And key SouRceS of 
eStImAtIon unceRtAInty
in the process of applying the group’s accounting policies, 
management has made no judgements which can significantly 
affect the amounts recognised in the financial statements and, at 
the end of the reporting period, there were no key assumptions 
concerning the future, or any other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty, that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next financial year other than as disclosed below:

the group reviews property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets to evaluate whether events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. 

in addition, the group tests goodwill annually for impairment or 
more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be 
impaired. Determining whether the carrying amounts of these 
assets can be realised requires an estimation of the value in use of 
the cash-generating units. the value in use calculation requires the 
directors to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from 
the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to 
calculate present value.

goodwill arising on a business combination is allocated, to the 
cash-generating units (“cgus”) that are expected to benefit from 
that business combination. the carrying amount of goodwill as at 
the reporting date relates to the malta operations.

the recoverable amounts of the cgus are determined from value in 
use calculations. the key assumptions for the value in use calculations 
are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and expected 
changes to selling prices and direct costs during the period. the 
directors estimate discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the cgus. the growth rates are based on industry growth 
forecasts. changes in selling prices and direct costs are based on past 
practices and expectations of future changes in the market. 

the assessment of recoverability of the carrying amount of 
goodwill includes:

• forecasted projected cash flows up to 2021 and projection  
of terminal value using the perpetuity method;

• growth rate of 3%; and
• use of 11% - 17% (pre-tax) to discount the projected cash  

flows to net present values.

Based on the above assessment, management expects the 
carrying amount of goodwill to be recoverable and there is no 
impairment in value of the goodwill.

4. InItIAL AppLIcAtIon of An 
InteRnAtIonAL fInAncIAL RepoRtIng 
StAndARd And InteRnAtIonAL 
fInAncIAL RepoRtIng StARdARdS In 
ISSue But not yet effectIve
(i) iNitial appliCatioN of aN iNterNatioNal 
fiNaNCial reportiNg StaNdard
in the current year, the company has applied international 
Accounting standard 24 (as revised in 2009) – related party 
Disclosures. the revised standard clarifies and simplifies the 
definition of a related party and provides certain exemptions for 
government-related entities. the company is not a government-
related entity. the application of the revised standard did not result 
in the identification of related parties that were not identified 
under the previous standard. 

(ii) iNterNatioNal fiNaNCial reportiNg 
StaNdardS iN iSSue but Not yet effeCtive
At the date of approval of these financial statements, a number 
of standards and interpretations issued by the international 
Accounting standards Board were either not yet endorsed by the 
eu or were not yet applicable to the group.

ifrs 9 represents the completion of the classification and 
measurement part of the iAsB’s project to replace iAs 39. this 
standard addresses the classification and measurement of certain 
financial assets and financial liabilities. ifrs 9 requires financial 
assets to be classified on the basis of the entity’s business model 
for managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow 
characteristics of the assets. the standard requires financial assets 
to be subsequently measured at amortised cost or at fair value. 
the requirements for financial liabilities address the problem of 
volatility in profit or loss arising from measuring own debt at fair 
value. under ifrs 9, any entity choosing to measure a liability at 
fair value will present the portion of the change in its fair value due 
to changes in the entity’s own credit risk in other comprehensive 
income. this standard is effective for annual periods beginning on 
are after 1 January 2015.

ifrs 10 consolidated financial statements builds on existing 
principles by identifying the concept of control as the determining 
factor in whether an entity should be included within the 
consolidated financial statements of the parent company. 
the standard provides additional guidance to assist in the 
determination of control where this is difficult to assess. ifrs 10 
introduces a single consolidation model for all entities based on 
control, irrespective of the nature of the investee (that is, whether 
an entity is controlled through voting rights of the investors or 
otherwise). ifrs 10 supersedes sic-12 consolidation—special 
purpose entities and parts of iAs 27 consolidated and separate 
financial statements. this standard is effective for annual periods 
beginning on are after 1 January 2013.
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4. InItIAL AppLIcAtIon of An 
InteRnAtIonAL fInAncIAL RepoRtIng 
StAndARd And InteRnAtIonAL 
fInAncIAL RepoRtIng StARdARdS In 
ISSue But not yet effectIve (contInued) 
ifrs 11 Joint Arrangements classifi es joint arrangements on the 
basis of their substance by focusing on the rights and obligations of 
the arrangement, rather than its legal form (as is currently the case 
in terms of iAs 31 interests in Joint ventures). under ifrs 11, joint 
arrangements are classifi ed as joint ventures or as joint operations. 
Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method of 
consolidation since the use of proportionate consolidation for 
such arrangements has been eliminated. Joint operations are 
accounted for in a manner that is similar to the current accounting 
treatment applicable for jointly controlled assets and jointly 
controlled operations. ifrs 11 supersedes iAs 31 interests in Joint 
ventures and sic-13 Jointly controlled entities—Non-monetary 
contributions by venturers. this standard is eff ective for annual 
periods beginning on are after 1 January 2013.

ifrs 12 Disclosure of interests in other entities addresses 
disclosure requirements for certain interests in other entities, 
including joint arrangements, associates, subsidiaries and 
unconsolidated structured entities. the objective of ifrs 12 is 
to require an entity to disclose information that enables users 
of its fi nancial statements to evaluate (a) the nature of, and risks 
associated with, its interests in other entities; and (b) the eff ects of 
those interests on its fi nancial position, fi nancial performance and 
cash fl ows. this standard is eff ective for annual periods beginning 
on are after 1 January 2013.

the revised iAs 27 was issued concurrently with ifrs 10. 
together, the two ifrss supersede iAs 27 consolidated and 
separate financial statements (as amended in 2008). this 
standard is eff ective for annual periods beginning on are after 1 
January 2013.

iAs28 (Amendments) - this standard supersedes iAs 28 
investments in Associates (as revised in 2003). it introduces 
certain additional guidance in respect of investments held by 
a venture capital organisation, or a mutual fund, unit trust and 
similar entities. these amendments are eff ective for annual periods 
beginning on are after 1 January 2013.

ifrs 13 fair value measurement defi nes fair value and sets out 
in a single ifrs a framework for measuring fair value and requires 
disclosures about fair value measurements. ifrs 13 does not 
require fair value measurements in addition to those already 
required or permitted by other ifrss. this standard is eff ective for 
annual periods beginning on are after 1 January 2013.

iAs 1 (Amendments) presentation of financial statements - these 
Amendments will require companies to group together items within 
other comprehensive income that may be reclassifi ed to the profi t 
or loss section of the income statement. these amendments are 

eff ective for annual periods beginning on are after 1 July 2012.
iAs32 and ifrs7 (Amendments) - these Amendments are 
intended to help investors and other fi nancial statement users 
to better assess the eff ect or potential eff ect of off setting 
arrangements on a company’s fi nancial position. the disclosure 
requirements also improve transparency in the reporting of how 
companies mitigate credit risk, including disclosure of related 
collateral pledged or received. these amendments are eff ective for 
annual periods beginning on are after 1 January 2014 and 1 January 
2013 respectively.

the directors anticipate that the adoption of international 
financial reporting standards that were in issue at the date of 
authorisation of these fi nancial statements, but not yet eff ective, 
will have no material impact on the fi nancial statements of the 
company in the period of initial application.

5. Segment InfoRmAtIon
the group operates one business activity which is the operation of 
the mcDonalds restaurant business which activities are licensed 
under the terms of franchise agreements awarded for each 
geographical location. the main line of activities are reported 
according to the geographical location.  each of these operating 
segments is managed separately as each of these lines require local 
resources and as well marketing approaches.  All inter segment 
transfers for management services are carried out cost basis.

the accounting policy for identifying segments is based on internal 
management reporting information that is regularly reviewed by 
the chief operating decision maker. 
revenue reported below represents revenue generated from 
external customers.  there were no intersegment sales in the year.  
the group’s reportable segments under ifrs 8 are direct sales 
attributable to each country where it operates as a mcDonalds 
development licensee.

the group operates in fi ve principal geographical areas - malta 
(country of domicile), estonia, greece, latvia and lithuania.

meASuRement of opeRAtIng Segment pRofIt 
oR LoSS, ASSetS And LIABILItIeS

segment profi t represents the profi t earned by each segment 
after allocation of central administration costs and fi nance costs 
based on services and fi nance provided.  this is the measure 
reported to the chief operating decision maker for the purposes of 
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance.

the accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same 
as the group’s accounting policies described in note two.  

reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, profi t or loss, 
assets and liabilities to consolidated totals are reported below:
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5. Segment InfoRmAtIon (contInued)

Profi t or loss
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 

total profi t for reportable segments  730,980  4,031,307 
elimination of inter segment profi ts  (874,674)  (1,736,147)
unallocated amounts  3,198,815  (1,916,607)

                                      
 3,055,121  378,553 
                                                                                            

Assets
2011

Eur 
2010

Eur 

total assets for reportable segments  39,521,784  37,796,345 
elimination of receivables  (5,205,743)  (11,646,623)
unallocated amounts:
intangible assets  9,757,943  10,367,819 
loans and receivables  12,644,473  16,039,768 
goodwill  14,606,999  14,606,999 
other unallocated amounts  5,590,348  1,421,369 

                                      
 76,915,804  68,585,677 

                                                                                            

Liabilities
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 

total liabilities for reportable segments  20,987,652  23,632,830 
elimination of payables  (14,534,228)  (19,377,433)
unallocated amounts:
Bank loans  19,917,539  16,894,447 
Debt securities in issue  24,522,262  24,464,357 
other segment liabilities  8,938,501  8,849,746 

                                      

 59,831,726  54,463,947 
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Estonia 
2011

Eur 

Greece 
2011

Eur 

Latvia 
2011

Eur 

Lithuania 
2011

Eur 

Malta 
2011

Eur 

Total 
2011

Eur 

Unallocated 
2011

Eur 

Eliminations 
and 

adjustments 
2011

Eur 

Consolidated
2011

Eur

revenue  13,943,249  13,917,352  13,790,628  13,233,810  18,152,902  73,037,941  -  (385,691)  72,652,250 
                                                                                                                                                                           

profit  
before tax

 257,288  (530,075)  42,776  1,065,898  (104,907)  730,980  (475,613)  2,799,754  3,055,121 

                                                                                                                                                                           
Depreciation and
amortisation  702,156  444,754  560,143  554,110  1,301,723  3,562,886  758,788  -  4,321,674 

                                                                                                                                                                           
segment assets  7,156,406  5,643,001  13,241,040  6,118,496  7,362,841  39,521,784  42,599,763  (5,205,743)  76,915,804 

                                                                                                                                                                           
capital expenditure  411,861  398,376  1,924,215  619,001  653,945  4,007,398  5,281,022  (2,521,142)  6,767,278 

                                                                                                                                                                           
segment liabilities  4,282,565  2,263,822  8,318,950  1,072,878  5,049,438  20,987,653  53,378,301  (14,534,228)  59,831,726 

                                                                                                                                                                           
income
tax (credit)/expense  -  (35,436)  106,007  86,706  470,697  627,974  (118,252)  (55,691)  454,031 

                                                                                                                                                                           

 Estonia 
 2010 

 Eur 

 Greece 
 2010 

 Eur 

 Latvia 
 2010 

 Eur 

 Lithuania 
 2010 

 Eur 

 Malta 
 2010 

 Eur 

 Total 
 2010 

 Eur 

 Unallocated 
 2010 

 Eur 

 Eliminations 
 and 

 Adjustments 
 2010 

 Eur 

Consolidated
2010

Eur

revenue  10,287,393  -  12,514,671  11,485,048  17,408,224  51,695,336  -  -  51,695,336 
                                                                                                                                                                    

profit 
before tax

 (293,927)  -  1,440,542  (72,034)  2,956,726  4,031,307  5,197,420  (8,850,174)  378,553 

                                                                                                                                                                    

Depreciation and
amortisation  446,098  -  455,688  482,458  1,216,340  2,600,584  679,004  -  3,279,588 

                                                                                                                                                                    
segment assets  7,076,642  -  11,828,390  7,668,014  11,223,299  37,796,345  42,435,955  (11,646,623)  68,585,677 

                                                                                                                                                                    
capital expenditure  5,041,303  -  2,306,571  2,359,993  860,243  10,568,110  185,276  410,000  11,163,386 

                                                                                                                                                                    
segment liabilities  4,464,015  -  7,230,419  3,604,103  8,334,293  23,632,830 50,208,550  (19,377,433)  54,463,947 

                                                                                                                                                                    
income
tax expense  -  -  104,058  1,156  653,376  758,590  2,025,184  (1,753,449)  1,030,325 

                                                                                                                                                                     

5. Segment InfoRmAtIon (contInued)
the group’s revenue and results from external customers and 
information about it assets and liabilities by reportable segment  
are detailed below.
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6. otheR opeRAtIng Income

                                                        Group                                                          Holding
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 

consultancy fees  22,145  11,267  970,704  443,267 
support services  -  -  1,293,940  1,201,515 
other income  150,371  644,411  2,825  - 

                                                                            
 172,516  655,678  2,267,469  1,644,782 

                                                                                                                                                                                        

7. InveStment Income

                                                       Group                                                    Holding
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 

interest income on bank deposits  32,463  71,644  32,466  14,278 
interest income on subsidiary loans  -  -  904,235  494,331 
interest income on related party loans  4,862  76,377  4,862  76,377 
interest income on financial asset at fair 
value through profit or loss  16,502  258,823  16,502  109,053 
increase in fair value of financial assets at 
fair value through profit or loss  -  14,277  -  14,277 
gain on bargain purchase of business 
combination (note 30)  4,955,180  -  -  - 
Dividends from investments in subsidiaries  -  -  1,000,000  7,114,027 

                                                                            
 5,009,007  421,121  1,958,065  7,822,343 
                                                                                                                                                                                        

8. InveStment LoSSeS

                                                       Group                                                   Holding
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 

loss on disposal of financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss  7,498  -  7,498  - 
provision for impairment against  
other debtors  1,000,000  -  -  - 

                                                                            
 1,007,498  -  7,498  - 
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9. fInAnce coStS

                                             Group                                               Holding
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 

interest on bank overdraft and loans  551,820  569,506  531,877  549,242 
interest on bonds  1,700,004  865,002  1,700,004  1,275,002 
Amortisation of bond
issue expenses  57,907  43,431  57,907  43,431 
interest on amounts payable to to related parties  9,548  13,141  9,548  13,141 
loss for the year and interest cost on derivative  
financial instrument  270,923  636,584  270,923  636,584 
other finance costs  67,449  65,340  67,449  65,340 

                                                                            
 2,657,651  2,193,004  2,637,708  2,582,740 
                                                                                                                                                                                        

10. pRofIt / (LoSS) BefoRe tAx

                                             Group                                              Holding
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 

This is stated after charging:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  
and amortisation of intangible assets  4,354,041  3,280,515  637,228  626,780 
Net exchange differences  -  24,902  -  - 

                                                                                                                                                                                        

the analysis of the amounts that are payable to the auditors and 
that are required to be disclosed may be analysed as follows:

gRoup
total remuneration payable to the parent company’s auditors 
in respect of the audit of the financial statements and the 
undertakings included in the consolidated financial statements 
amounted to eur35,000 (2010 – eur34,000) and the 
remuneration payable to the other auditors in respect of the 
audits of the undertakings included in the consolidated financial 
statements amounted to eur48,600 (2010 – eur50,760). other 
fees payable to the parent company’s auditors for non-audit 
services other than other assurance services and tax advisory 
services amounted to eur40,500 (2010 – eur64,550).

hoLdIng compAny
total remuneration payable to the parent company’s auditors 
for the audit of the company’s financial statements amounted 
to eur5,000 (2010 – eur5,000). other fees payable to the 
parent company’s auditors for non-audit services other than 
other assurance services and tax advisory services amounted to 
eur39,650 (2010 – eur64,550).
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11. key mAnAgement peRSonneL compenSAtIon

                                                   Group                                                      Holding
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 

Directors' compensation:
short term benefits:
salaries and social security contribution  125,358  118,513  28,669  22,000 

                                                                                                                                                                                        

12. StAff coStS And empLoyee InfoRmAtIon

                                                   Group                                                      Holding
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 

Staff costs:
Wages and salaries  16,450,323  11,915,362  873,054  581,611 
social security costs  4,304,926  2,573,166  14,318  11,288 

                                                                            
 20,755,249  14,488,528  887,372  592,899 

                                                                                                                                                                                        

the average number of persons employed during the year by the 
group and the company, was made up as follows:

                                                  Group                                                  Holding
2011

Number 
2010

Number 
2011

Number 
2010

Number 

operations  2,218  1,675  -  - 
Administration  134  113  13  9 

                                                                            
 2,352  1,788  13  9 

                                                                                                                                                                                        

13. Income tAx expenSe/(cRedIt)

                                                   Group                                                   Holding
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 

current tax expense/(credit)  594,462  (1,001,905)  -  - 
Deferred tax (credit)/expense  (140,431)  2,032,230  (177,663)  2,022,920 

                                                                            
 454,031  1,030,325  (177,663)  2,022,920 
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tax applying the statutory domestic income tax rate and the 
income tax expense for the year are reconciled below.

the tax rate used for the 2011 and 2010 reconciliations is the 
corporate tax rate of 35% payable by corporate entities in malta 
on taxable profi ts under tax law in malta.

                                                     Group                                                     Holding
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 

profi t/(loss) for the year before tax  3,055,121  378,553  (563,763)  5,208,248 
                                                                            

tax at the applicable rate of 35%  1,069,292  132,494  (197,317)  1,822,887 

tax eff ect of:
Depreciation charges not deductible by 
way of capital allowances in determining 
taxable income  281,474  151,696  -  - 
Disallowable expenses  292,662  177,267  19,654  225,800 
intra-group dividends  350,000  790,650 
permanent diff erences on sale 
of fi xed assets  306,178  -  -  - 
Diff erent tax rates of subsidiaries 
operating in other jurisdictions

 (384,149)  19,479  -  - 

profi ts not chargeable to tax 
and tax exemptions  (86,706)  (1,159)  -  - 
gain on disposal of investments  -  (25,767)  -  (25,767)
gain on bargain purchase  (1,734,313)  -  -  - 
other permanent diff erences  359,593  (214,335)  -  - 

                                                                            
income tax expense/(credit)
 for the year  454,031  1,030,325  (177,663)  2,022,920 

                                                                                                                                                                                        

14. dIvIdendS
in respect of the current year, a net dividend of eur650,000 
(eur4.79 per ordinary share) was declared and paid in 2011. in the 
prior year, an interim net dividend of eur1,500,000 (eur11.05 
per ordinary share) was declared and paid.  the directors do not 
recommend the payment of a fi nal dividend.

13. Income tAx expenSe/(cRedIt) (contInued)
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15. IntAngIBLe ASSetS 
gRoup

Support
services
license

Eur

Computer
software

Eur

Acquired
rights and

Franchisee Fee
Eur

Total
Eur

Cost
At 01.01.2010  12,366,964  25,843  742,317  13,135,124 
Additions  -  2,389  -  2,389 
Disposals  -  (1,902)  -  (1,902)
Diff erence on exchange  -  77  183  260 

                                                                            
At 01.01.2011  12,366,964  26,407  742,500  13,135,871 
Additions  -  66,528  56,861  123,389 
Disposals  -  (783)  (149,040)  (149,823)

                                                                            
At 31.12.2011  12,366,964  92,152  650,321  13,109,437 

                                                                            

Amortisation
At 01.01.2010  1,236,696  25,257  327,216  1,589,169 
provision for the year  618,346  962  28,518  647,826 
Disposals  -  (1,894)  -  (1,894)
Diff erence on exchange  -  73  52  125 

                                                                            
At 01.01.2011  1,855,042  24,398  355,786  2,235,226 
provision for the year  618,351  2,564  31,839  652,754 
Disposals  -  (782)  (126,216)  (126,998)

                                                                            
At 31.12.2011  2,473,393  26,180  261,409  2,760,982 

                                                                            

Carrying amount
At 31.12.2010  10,511,922  2,009  386,714  10,900,645 

                                                                                                                                                                                        
At 31.12.2011  9,893,571  65,972  388,912  10,348,455 
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15. IntAngIBLe ASSetS (contInued)
hoLdIng

Support
services
license

 Eur 

Assets
not yet

in use
 Eur 

Total
 Eur 

cost
At 01.01.2010  12,197,438  -  12,197,438 
Additions  -  -  - 

                                                         
At 01.01.2011  12,197,438  -  12,197,438 
Additions  -  50,158  50,158 

                                                         
At 31.12.2011  12,197,438  50,158  12,247,596 

                                                         
Amortisation
At 01.01.2010  1,219,744  -  1,219,744 
provision for the year  609,875  -  609,875 

                                                         
At 01.01.2011  1,829,619  -  1,829,619 
provision for the year  609,876  -  609,876 

                                                         
At 31.12.2011  2,439,495  -  2,439,495 

                                                         
Carrying amount
At 31.12.2010  10,367,819  -  10,367,819 

                                                                                                                                          

At 31.12.2011  9,757,943  50,158  9,808,101 
                                                                                                                                          

the amortisation expense on intangible assets has been included in 
the line items ‘Distribution expenses’ and ‘Administrative expenses’ 
in the statement of comprehensive income.
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16. pRopeRty, pLAnt And equIpment
gRoup

Land and
buildings

Eur

 Improvements 
 to premises 

 Eur 

Motor
vehicles

Eur

Plant and
equipment

Eur

Other
equipment

Eur
Total

Eur

Cost
At 01.01.2010  14,741,778  6,747,810  279,318  15,764,711  1,577,184  39,110,801 
Additions  6,905,466  55,309  40,418  3,935,893  226,300  11,163,386 
Disposals  (2,405)  (198,957)  (973,317)  (23,908)  (1,198,587)
Net exchange diff erence  56,787  29  20  20,921  13,802  91,559 

                                                                                                                  
At 01.01.2011  21,701,626  6,604,191  319,756  18,748,208  1,793,378  49,167,159 
Net acquisitions through 
business combination  900,000  1,442,543  -  3,256,730  -  5,599,273 
Additions  3,132,803  792,338  50,567  1,959,311  684,955  6,619,974 
Disposals  -  (537,310)  (53,092)  (1,430,434)  (179,304)  (2,200,140)
transfers between categories  (202,007)  -  -  202,386  (379)  - 

                                                                                                                  
At 31.12.2011  25,532,422  8,301,762  317,231  22,736,201  2,298,650  59,186,266 

                                                                                                                  

Accumulated depreciation
At 01.01.2010  5,753,128  3,982,043  120,373  9,357,339  694,658  19,907,541 
provision for the year  627,490  412,646  41,939  1,386,627  163,987  2,632,689 
released on disposal  (1,191)  (7,057)  -  (795,512)  (23,753)  (827,513)
Diff erence on exchange  20,478  15  10  10,971  5,278  36,752 

                                                                                                                  
At 01.01.2011  6,399,905  4,387,647  162,322  9,959,425  840,170  21,749,469 
provision for the year  797,759  612,352  40,954  2,039,482  210,739  3,701,286 
Disposal  -  (505,343)  (20,158)  (1,361,825)  (151,155)  (2,038,481)

                                                                                                                  
At 31.12.2011  7,197,664  4,494,656  183,118  10,637,082  899,754  23,412,274 

                                                                                                                  

Carrying amount
At 31.12.2010  15,301,721  2,216,544  157,434  8,788,783  953,208  27,417,690 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    
At 31.12.2011  18,334,758  3,807,106  134,113  12,099,119  1,398,896  35,773,992 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    

interest capitalised by the group during 2011 amounted to 
eur328,021 (2010 – eur 410,000).

the group’s land and buildings with a carrying amount of eur4.7m  
(2010 – eur738,981) have been pledged to secure bank 
borrowings of the subsidiaries in latvia and lithuania.
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16. pRopeRty, pLAnt And equIpment (contInued)
hoLdIng

 Motor 
 Vehicles 

 Eur 

 Furniture, 
 fi xtures 

 and other 
 equipment 

 Eur 
 Total 

 Eur 

Cost
At 01.01.2010  -  6,086  6,086 
Additions  -  104,815  104,815 

                                                         
At 01.01.2011  -  110,901  110,901 
Additions  50,000  27,241  77,241 

                                                         
At 31.12.2011  50,000  138,142  188,142 

                                                         

Accumulated depreciation
At 01.01.2010  -  1,069  1,069 
provision for the year  -  16,905  16,905 

                                                         
At 01.01.2011  -  17,974  17,974 
provision for the year  -  27,352  27,352 

                                                         
At 31.12.2011  -  45,326  45,326 

                                                         

Carrying amount
At 31.12.2010  -  92,927  92,927 

                                                                                                                                          

At 31.12.2011  50,000  92,816  142,816 
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17. defeRRed tAxAtIon
gRoup

Opening
balance

Eur

Recognised in 
profi t and loss

Eur

Closing 
 balance 

Eur

Deferred tax assets
2010
Arising on:
temporary diff erences on property, 
plant and equipment  -  56,103  56,103 
unused tax losses  2,607,647  (819,858)  1,787,789 

                                                         
 2,607,647  (763,755)  1,843,892 
                                                                                                                                          

2011
Arising on:
temporary diff erences on property, 
plant and equipment  56,103  29,628  85,731 
unused tax losses  1,787,789  (45,309)  1,742,480 
other diff erences  -  35,028  35,028 

                                                         
 1,843,892  19,347  1,863,239 
                                                                                                                                          

Deferred tax liabilities
2010
Arising on:
temporary diff erences on intangible assets  2,413,697  1,208,782  3,622,479 
temporary diff erences on property, 
plant and equipment  267,464  59,693  327,157 

                                                         
 2,681,161  1,268,475  3,949,636 
                                                                                                                                          

2011
Arising on:
temporary diff erences on intangible assets  3,622,479  (222,972)  3,399,507 
temporary diff erences on property, 
plant and equipment

 327,157  101,888  429,045 

                                                         
 3,949,636  (121,084)  3,828,552 
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17. defeRRed tAxAtIon (contInued)
hoLdIng

Opening
balance

Eur

Recognised in 
profi t or loss

Eur

Closing 
 balance 

Eur

Deferred tax assets
2010
Arising on:
unused tax losses  2,607,647  (819,858)  1,787,789 

                                                                                                                                          

2011
Arising on:
unused tax losses  1,787,789  (45,309)  1,742,480 

                                                                                                                                          

Deferred tax liabilities
2010
Arising on:
temporary diff erences on 
intangible assets

 2,419,418  1,203,062  3,622,480 

                                                                                                                                          

2011
Arising on:
temporary diff erences on 
intangible assets

 3,622,480  (222,972)  3,399,508 

                                                         

Deferred tax assets have been recognised for all unused tax losses 
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profi t will be available 
against which the losses can be utilised.

18. fInAncIAL ASSetS
(a)  investments in subsidiaries

 
 

Holding
 Eur 

Cost
At 01.01.2010  21,719,172 
capital contribution in cash  1,750,000 
Additions  1,000,002 
                    
At 01.01.2011  24,469,174 
Additions  3,287,617 

                   
At 31.12.2011  27,756,791 
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18. fInAncIAL ASSetS (contInued)
Details of the company’s subsidiaries at 31 December 2011 
and 2010 are as follows:

Name of
subsidiary

Place of
incorporation

and ownership

Proportion 
of ownership

interest

Proportion 
of ownership

interest Holding

Proportion 
of voting

power held

Proportion 
of voting

power held Principal activity

2011 2010 2011 2010
% % % %

siA premier restaurants latvia latvia 100 100 Direct 100 100 operates mcDonald's
restaurants in latvia

premier estates ltd latvia 100 100 Direct 100 100 Development and
leasing of property 

As premier restaurants eesti estonia 100 100 indirect 100 100 operates mcDonald's
restaurants in estonia

premier estates eesti ou estonia 100 100 indirect 100 100 Development and 
leasing of property

premier restaurants uAB lithuania 100 100 indirect 100 100 operates mcDonald's
restaurants in 
lithuania

premier estates lietuva uAB lithuania 100 100 Direct 100 100 Development and 
leasing of property

premier restaurants malta limited malta 78.81 78.81 Direct 86.69 86.69 operates mcDonald’s 
restaurants in malta

premier Arcades limited malta 78.81 78.81 indirect 86.69 86.69 operates mcDonald’s 
restaurants in malta

premier Assets (malta) limited malta 78.81 78.81 indirect 86.69 86.69 Development and 
leasing of property

premier capital B.v. Netherlands 100 - Direct 100 - Holding company

premier capital Hellas s.A. operates mcDonald's
acquired in June 2011 greece 100 - Direct 100 - restaurants in greece
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2011
 Eur 

2010
 Eur 

current assets  61,838  34,991 
                                      

Non-current assets  321,434  411,787 
                                      

current liabilities  325,406  442,091 
                                      

Non-current liabilities  -  4,104 
                                      

income  1,273,730  1,325,253 
                                      

expenses  1,216,447  1,221,829 
                                                                                            

18. fInAncIAL ASSetS (contInued)
(b) Joint ventures

premier restaurants malta limited (a subsidiary) has an indirect 
50% interest in Arcades limited.  the following amounts 
are included in the group fi nancial statements as a result of 
proportionate consolidation of Arcades limited:

(c) financial assets at fair value through profi t or loss

Group
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 

Holding
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 

fair value
financial assets designated 
as at fair value through profi t
 or loss upon initial recognition
- local listed equity instruments  -  989,997  -  989,997 

                                                                                                                                                                                        

42



18. fInAncIAL ASSetS (contInued) 
(d) loans and receivables

                                              Group  Holding
Loans to

other
related 
parties

Eur 
Total

Eur 

Loan to  
subsidiary

Eur 

Loans to
other

 related 
parties

 Eur 
Total

Eur

Amortised cost
At 01.01.2010  489,765  489,765  3,509,644  489,765  3,999,409 
increase  792,703  792,703  11,247,656  792,703  12,040,359 

                                                                                               
At 01.01.2011  1,282,468  1,282,468  14,757,300  1,282,468  16,039,768 
increase  194,797  194,797  387,565  538,448  926,013 
repayments  (1,183,887)  (1,183,887)  (2,793,770)  (1,183,887)  (3,977,657)

                                                                                               
At 31.12.2011  293,378  293,378  12,351,095  637,029  12,988,124 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      

Carrying amount
At 31.12.2010  1,282,468  1,282,468  14,757,300  1,282,468  16,039,768 
less: Amount expected to be 
settled within 12 months 
(shown under current assets)  (1,282,468)  (1,282,468)  (932,415)  (1,282,468)  (2,214,883)

                                                                                               
Amount expected to be settled 
after 12 months  -  -  13,824,885  -  13,824,885 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      

At 31.12.2011  293,378  293,378  12,351,095  637,029  12,988,124 

Less: Amount expected 
to be settled within 12 
months (shown under 
current assets)  (293,378)  (293,378)  (950,000)  (637,029)  (1,587,029)

                                                                                               
Amount expected to be
settled after 12 months  -  -  11,401,095  -  11,401,095 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      

the loans to subsidiaries amounting to eur12,165,264 are 
unsecured and bear interest at 6.8%.  full repayment of the 
loans is receivable by 2018.  the remaining loans are unsecured, 
interest-free and repayable on demand.

the loans to related parties amounting to eur637,029 (2010 – 
eur1,282,468) are unsecured, interest-free, and repayable 
on demand. 

19. pRepAymentS

these relate mainly to prepaid rents and guarantee deposits 
made by the group’s subsidiaries in estonia and greece.  the 
total amount as at the end of the reporting period stands at 
eur1,646,043 (2010 – eur458,910) after having recorded 
prepayments within a twelve month period of eur603,364 (2010  
eur28,405) as current assets.
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20. InventoRIeS

                                                Group                                                    Holding
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 

raw materials and consumables
 1,265,946  1,167,192  -  - 
                                                                                                                                                                                        

21. tRAde And otheR ReceIvABLeS

                                               Group                                                    Holding
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 

trade receivables  66,749  45,376  4,878  317 
other receivables  309,279  1,215,345  61,609  125,538 
Amounts due from related companies  28,385  338,852  26,408  26,408 
Net acquisitions through subsidiaries  -  -  2,124,722  3,818,922 
prepayments and accrued income  973,643  285,282  47,037  14,667 

                                                                            
 1,378,056  1,884,855  2,264,654  3,985,852 
                                                                                                                                                                                        

No interest is charged on trade and other receivables.  the amounts 
due from subsidiaries and related parties are unsecured, interest-free 
and are repayable on demand. other receivables are stated after a 
provision for impairment of eur1,000,000 (2010: Nil).

22. tRAde And otheR pAyABLeS

                                             Group                                                  Holding
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 

trade payables  3,539,580  2,919,104  9,263  33,878 
other payables  1,112,580  860,949  -  - 
social security liabilities  1,186,161  856,618  -   -  
vAt and other liabilities  984,626  353,899  -   -  
Accruals and deferred income  2,808,184  2,368,634  1,504,375  1,367,279 

                                                                            
 9,631,131  7,359,204  1,513,638  1,401,157 
                                                                                                                                                                                        

No interest is charged on trade and other payables. 
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23. otheR fInAncIAL LIABILItIeS
other financial liabilities are repayable as follows:

                                            Group                                                Holding
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 

shareholders' loans  -   -   -  - 
Amounts due to related companies  36,964  313,228  167,345  313,228 
Amounts due to group companies  -  -  89,516  89,516 
Derivative financial liability held for trading  402,257  315,764  402,257  315,764 
Dividends payable to non
controlling interest  -  848,396  -  - 

                                                                            
 439,221  1,477,388  659,118  718,508 

less: Amount due for settlement within 12 months 
(shown under current liabilities)  (254,212)  (1,086,686)  (377,479)  (327,806)

                                                                            
 185,009  390,702  281,639  390,702 

                                                                                                                                                                                        

                                            Group                                                Holding
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 

on demand or within one year  254,212  1,086,686  377,479  327,806 
in the second year  152,732  190,135  203,662  190,135 
in the third year  32,277  163,569  77,977  163,569 
in the fourth year  -  36,998  -  36,998 
in the fifth year  -   -   -   -  

                                                                            
 439,221  1,477,388  659,118  718,508 

less: Amount due for settlement within 12 months 
(shown under current liabilities)  (254,212)  (1,086,686)  (377,479)  (327,806)

                                                                            
 185,009  390,702  281,639  390,702 

                                                                                                                                                                                        

included in the amount due to related parties is an outstanding 
amount of eur166,293 (2010 – eur260,113) which bears interest 
at 4.25% per annum, eur103,368 (2010 – eur169,880) of which 
is due for settlement after 12 months. the remaining balances 
have no fixed date for repayment and the group and the company 
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of these loans for at 
least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. the amounts 
due to related parties are unsecured and interest free.

Derivative financial instruments of eur402,257 comprise an 
interest rate swap whereby the company had entered into a 
contract to swap a floating rate for a fixed rate. the interest rate 
swap is stated at fair value and is classified with financial liabilities 
classified as held for trading. An amount of eur187,448 is 
classified with current liabilities.

the notional principal amounts of the outstanding interest 
rate swaps, at the end of the reporting period amounted to 
eur14,545,455 (2010 – eur16,363,636).

At the end of the reporting period, the fixed interest rates on 
interest rate swaps amount to 2.45%  (2010 – 2.45%). the 
floating rate is three-month euriBor. the interest rate swaps 
settle on a quarterly basis and the group settles the difference 
between the fixed and floating interest rates on a net basis.
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24. BAnk oveRdRAft And LoAnS

                                                 Group                                                       Holding
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 

Bank overdrafts  1,492,677  6,463  3,462  2,543 
Bank loans  19,917,883  16,887,984  14,545,455  16,363,636 

                                                                            
 21,410,560  16,894,447  14,548,917  16,366,179 

                                                                                                                                                                                        

Bank overdraft and loans are repayable as follows:

                                                 Group                                                       Holding
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 

on demand or within one year  4,692,485  1,867,159  2,427,702  1,820,725 
in the second year  3,995,341  2,424,000  2,424,240  2,424,000 
in the third year  3,995,341  2,424,000  2,424,240  2,424,000 
in the fourth year  3,544,344  2,424,000  2,424,240  2,424,000 
in the fifth year  2,758,809  2,424,000  2,424,240  2,424,000 
After five years  2,424,240  5,331,288  2,424,255  4,849,454 

                                                                            
 21,410,560  16,894,447  14,548,917  16,366,179 

less:  amount due for settlement 
within 12 months (shown under 
current liabilities)  (4,692,485)  (1,867,159)  (2,427,702)  (1,820,725)

                                                                            
 16,718,075  15,027,288  12,121,215  14,545,454 

                                                                                                                                                                                        

the terms and conditions of the bank borrowings pertaining to the 
holding company are as follows:

the bank loan of eur14,545,455 (2009 – eur16,363,636) with 
Nordea Bank finland plc which bears interest at adjusted 3m 
euriBor +2% (2010 – 1.5%). the loan is secured by a pledge 
agreement between the bank and the company, together with 
pledges over the Baltic subsidiaries’ shares and a pledge over the 
subsidiaries’ immovable and movable property. During 2009 the 
company entered into an interest rate swap whereby the company 
pays a fixed rate of interest of 2.45% over the principal and 
receives a floating rate of euriBor +3 months.

the remaining bank borrowings pertain to the company’s 
subsidiaries and the terms and conditions are as follows:

i. the bank loan with As DnB Nord Banca for the amount 
of eur2,254,985 bears interest at 6m euriBor +3.75%.  
this loan was concluded in 2011 and has been granted for 
the acquisition and construction of mcDonald’s restaurants 

in latvia.  the loan is secured by the property acquired and 
buildings constructed;

ii. A loan of eur627,571 was granted to the group’s subsidiary in 
latvia to acquire property for administrative purposes. this loan 
bears interest at 1m euriBor +0.9%.  the loan is secured 
by the property itself and is also guaranteed by another group 
company;

iii. in may 2011, the group’s subsidiary in lithuania obtained 
bank finance from swedbank AB for the acquisition and 
the development of restaurants in lithuania.  the amount 
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period is of 
eur2,489,872 and is subject to interest at 1m euriBor 
+3.35%.  the loan is secured by land and buildings being 
acquired by the subsidiary through this loan;

iv. the bank overdraft facility of eur2,000,000 (2010 – 
eur1,000,000) bears interest at 250 basis point over the 
bank’s base rate, presently 2.5% (2010: 2.5%) per annum. this
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24. BAnk oveRdRAft And LoAnS 
(contInued)

 facility is secured by a first general hypothec over the assets 
of a subsidiary company, over those of related companies, as 
well as by guarantees provided by shareholders and related 
companies together with pledges on various insurance policies.  
this facility is subject to an 18 month temporary excess of 
eur1,000,000.

25. deBt SecuRItIeS In ISSue

2011
 Eur 

2010
 Eur 

6.8% bonds redeemable  
2017-2020  24,522,262  24,464,357 

                                                                                            

in April 2010 the company issued 250,000 6.8% bonds of a 
nominal value of eur100 per bond.  the bonds are redeemable 
at their nominal value on 15 march 2020, subject to the issuer’s 
option to redeem all or any part of the Bonds on any of the 
designated early redemption dates.  the latter fall on any date 
between 16 march 2017 and 14 march 2020 as the issuer may 
determine by giving thirty days prior notice to the Bondholders.

interest on the bonds is due and payable annually on 15 march  
of each year.

the bonds are listed on the official list of the malta stock exchange.  
the carrying amount of the bonds is net of direct issue costs of 
eur477,738 which are being amortised over the life of the bonds.  
the market value of debt securities on the last trading day before the 
statement of financial position date was eur25,652,500.

26. ShARe cApItAL
                                           2011 and 2010
 
 
 

Authorised
Eur

Issued and
called up

Eur

47,637 ordinary 'A' shares of eur100 each, of which 45,249 have been 
issued and called up  4,763,700  4,524,900 
47,637 ordinary 'B' shares of eur100 each, of which 45,249 have been 
issued and called up  4,763,700  4,524,900 
47,637 ordinary 'c' shares of eur100 each, of which 45,249 have been 
issued and called up  4,763,700  4,524,900 

                                      
 14,291,100  13,574,700 

                                      

save for the selection of directors in terms of clause 55 of the 
Articles of Association of the company, ordinary shares in the 
company, irrespective of the class to which they belong, shall have 

equal rights as regards dividends and in all other respects each 
shareholder shall be entitled to one vote in general meetings for 
each of such shares held.
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27. otheR equIty
gRoup

Capital
contribution

 Eur 

Shareholders'
loans for

capitalisation
 Eur 

Legal
reserve

 Eur 

Other
reserve

 Eur 
Total
 Eur 

Balance at 1 January 2010  10,044,023  2,000,000  124,988  -    12,169,011 
capitalisation  (10,044,023)  (2,000,000)  -  -    (12,044,023)
loss offset reserve  -  -  -  212,351  212,351 
capital contribution made by parent attributable  
to non controlling interest  -  -  -  (370,825)  (370,825)
transfer from retained earnings to legal reserves  -  -  58,629  -    58,629 

                                                                                               
Balance at 1 January 2011  -  -  183,617  (158,474)  25,143 
movement in legal reserve  -  -  (98,710)  -  (98,710)

                                                                                               
Balance at 31 December 2011  -  -  84,907  (158,474)  (73,567)

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      

hoLdIng

Capital
contribution

 Eur 

Shareholders'
loans for

capitalisation
 Eur 

Other
reserve

 Eur 
Total
 Eur 

Balance at 1 January 2010  10,044,023  2,000,000  -  12,044,023 
capitalisation  (10,044,023)  (2,000,000)  -  (12,044,023)
loss offset reserve  -  -  212,351  212,351 

                                                                            
Balance at 1 January 2011  -  -  212,351  212,351 

                                                                            
Balance at 31 December 2011  -  -  212,351  212,351 

                                                                                                                                                                                        

the legal reserve represents reserves created by the subsidiaries  
in estonia and lithuania pursuant to the legal requirements in 
these jurisdictions.

the other reserve represents a cash capital contribution made by 
the parent company to one of its subsidiaries attributable to non-
controlling interests amounting to eur370,825 and a loss offset 
reserve amounting to eur212,351 which represents a reserve for 
the purpose of offsetting any losses that may be incurred by the 
company from time to time and was created by a reduction of 
share capital in 2010.
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28. cASh And cASh equIvALentS
cash and cash equivalents included in the statement of cash flows 
comprise the following amounts in the statement of financial position:

cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on bank  
deposit rates. the interest rate on the cash at bank in 2011 was  
2% - 3% (2010 – 2% - 3%). the interest rate on bank overdrafts  
is disclosed in note 24. 

29. SIgnIfIcAnt non-cASh tRAnSActIonS
During 2010 the company increased its share capital by 
eur11,827,670.  part of the increase amounting to eur500,000 
was paid in cash.

the remaining amount was satisfied by the capitalization 
of shareholders loans advanced in 2009 amounting to 
eur2,000,000, and a capitalization of a capital contribution 
arising in 2009 amounting to eur10,044,023. 

During the year under review there were no significant non- 
cash transactions.

30. BuSIneSS comBInAtIonS
on 1 June 2011, the group acquired 100% interest in mcDonald’s 
HellAs company operated restaurants s.A. (the ‘subsidiary’) 
which is a development licensee for mcDonalds restaurants in 
greece. on the date of acquisition, the subsidiary operated 18 
stores in various towns and cities across greece and the islands. 
the acquisition is part of the group’s strategic expansion plans into 
new territories. 

the transaction involved the transfer by mcDonald’s of its 
on-going business activities to a separate company already in 
existence, referred to as the “spin-off”. the spin-off took place on 
the 1st march 2011 and the spin-off company acquired the rights 
to operate mcDonald’s restaurants on a non-exclusive basis in 
greece. the ownership of this spin-off company was transferred 
to premier capital p.l.c. on the 1st June 2011.  the consolidated 
financial statements include the results of the subsidiary for the 
seven month period from the acquisition date. 

Group
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 

Holding
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 

cash at bank and on hand  6,851,156  6,123,247  2,677,497  2,486,915 
Bank overdrafts  (1,492,677)  (6,463)  (3,462)  (2,543)

                                                                            
 5,358,479  6,116,784  2,674,035  2,484,372 
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30. BuSIneSS comBInAtIonS (contInued)
conSIdeRAtIon tRAnSfeRRed

Eur

                   
Cash 1,047,63

                                              
 
the fair value of the identifi able assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed at the date of acquisition was:

 Eur 

Current assets
cash and cash equivalents  1,393,074 
trade and other receivables  863,693 
inventories  268,506 

Non-current assets
property, plant and equipment  5,599,273 
prepayments  901,660 

Current liabilities
trade and other payables  (2,989,133)

                   
fair value of net assets acquired  6,037,073 

                                              

 Eur 

consideration transferred  3,047,661 
less:
share capital injected  (2,000,027)
retained earnings adjustments  34,259 
fair value of net assets acquired  (6,037,073)

                   
gain on bargain purchase arising on 
acquisition recognised as investment 
income in the statement of 
comprehensive income  (4,955,180)

                                              

Acquisition related costs amounting to eur201,506 have been 
excluded from the consideration transferred and have been 
recognised as an expense in the period, within the ‘other expenses’ 
line item in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

in order to enable the transferring party to consolidate its position 
as franchisor and to incentivise further expansion and investment in 
the country, the parties agreed that the business’ property, 
plant and equipment would be transferred to the subsidiary at a 
value which was below the historical net book value at which they 
were carried in the books of the transferring party. 

ImpAct of AcquISItIon on the ReSuLtS of 
the gRoup:
included in the profi t for the period is a loss of eur494,639 
attributable to the newly acquired subsidiary. revenue for the 
period includes eur13,917,352 in respect of the said subsidiary. 

Had the acquisition of the subsidiary been eff ected on 1 January 
2011, the revenue of the group from continuing operations for year 
ended 31 December 2011 would have been eur80.7 million, and 
the profi t for the year from continuing operations would have been 
eur3.5 million.

the directors of the group consider these pro-forma numbers 
to represent an approximate measure of the performance of the 
combined group on a yearly basis and to provide a reference point 
for comparison in future periods.

in determining the pro-forma revenue and profi t of the group 
had the subsidiary been acquired at the beginning of the current 
reporting period, the directors have calculated depreciation of 
property, plant and equipment acquired on the basis of the fair 
values arising in the initial accounting for the business combination 
rather than the carrying amounts recognised in the fi nancial 
statements of the acquired subsidiary.
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31. ReLAted pARty dIScLoSuReS
premier capital p.l.c. is the parent company of the undertakings 
highlighted in note 18.

During the course of the year, the group and the company entered 
into transactions with related parties, as set out below.

gRoup

                  2011                    2010
Related

party
activity

 Eur 

Total
activity

 Eur  % 

Related
party

activity
 Eur 

Total
activity

 Eur %

other operating income
related party transactions with:
other related parties  19,320  172,516  11  11,267  655,678  2 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    
Administrative 
expenses:
related party transactions with:
other related parties  337,870  107,187 
Key management
personnel  125,358  118,513 

                                      
 463,228  7,521,269  6  225,700  5,053,936  4 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    
finance
costs:
related party transactions with:
other related parties  9,548  2,657,651  -  13,141  2,193,004  1 
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31. ReLAted pARty dIScLoSuReS (contInued)
hoLdIng

2011 2010
Related

party
activity

 Eur 

Total
activity

 Eur  % 

Related
party

activity
 Eur 

Total
activity

 Eur %

other operating income:
related party transactions with:
subsidiaries  2,245,324  1,633,516 
other related parties  19,320  11,267 

                                      
 2,264,644  2,267,469  99.88  1,644,783  1,644,782  100 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    

Administrative 
expenses:
related party transactions with:
other related parties  126,440  106,541 
Key management personnel of  
the company  28,669  22,000 

                                      
 155,109  2,144,091  7  128,541  1,676,137  8 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    
investment
income:
related party transactions with:
subsidiaries  1,904,235  7,608,358 
other related parties  4,862  76,377 

                                      
 1,909,097  1,958,065  97  7,684,735  7,822,343  98 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    

finance
costs:
related party
transactions with:
other related parties  9,548  2,637,708  0.36  13,141  2,582,740 1

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    

No expense has been recognised during the year arising from bad 
and doubtful debts in respect of amounts due by related parties.

the amounts due from/to related parties at year-end are disclosed 
in notes 18, 21 and 23. other than as disclosed in the respective 
notes, no guarantees have been given or received.
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32. opeRAtIng LeASeS

Group Holding

2011
 Eur 

2010
 Eur 

2011
 Eur 

2010
 Eur 

minimum lease payments under operating  
leases recognised as an expense for the year  3,428,583  1,992,812  -  - 

                                                                                                                                                                                        

the group entered into operating lease agreements for the lease of 
premises and sub-lease agreements for the lease of land on which 
the restaurants in the Baltics and greece are situated. the group is 
committed to make monthly payments which are partly fixed and 
partly based on the sales of each particular restaurant.

At the end of the reporting period, the group had outstanding 
commitments under non-cancellable operating leases, which fall 
due as follows:

2011
 Eur 

2010
 Eur 

Within one year  3,068,888  794,269 
Between two to five years  10,206,883  3,223,128 
over five years  8,539,681  2,527,550 

                                      
 21,815,452  6,544,947 

                                                                                            

33. commItmentS
(i) the subsidiaries operate under franchise agreements  

(‘the Agreement’) entered into with mcDonald’s  
international property company (‘the franchisor’).  
the franchise agreements are for a period of 20 years  
which allows the respective company to use the mcDonald’s 
system in the restaurants. these franchise agreement stipulate 
certain financial and non-financial obligations, including but 
not necessarily limited to, maintaining certain financial ratios, 
performing marketing and other activities. the subsidiaries are 
obliged to pay a royalty fee based on their annual net sales of 
the respective company on an annual basis. 

 upon the expiration of these Agreements, the franchisor 
shall have the right to purchase all of the equity interest in the 
franchisee’s mcDonald’s restaurant business (“fmrB”).  if 
the franchisor elects to exercise its right to purchase fmrB, 
the purchase price shall be equal to the fair market value, as 
defined in the Agreement. in the event that the franchisor 
does not exercise its right to purchase fmrB, it shall have the 
right to lease or sublease or purchase, as the case may be, the 
premises associated with the restaurants from franchisee at 
fair market rental or fair market price, as the case may be. 

(ii) At the end of the reporting period the group and the company 
had the following further capital commitments in respect of 
property, plant and equipment:

Group
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 

Holding
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 

capital expenditure authorised but not  
contracted for  5,728,000  10,599,432  5,000,000  - 
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34. fAIR vALue of fInAncIAL ASSetS And 
fInAncIAL LIABILItIeS
At 31 December 2011 and 2010 the carrying amounts of fi nancial 
assets and fi nancial liabilities classifi ed with current assets and 
current liabilities respectively approximated their fair values due to 
the short term maturities of these assets and liabilities.

the fair values of non-current fi nancial assets and non-current 
fi nancial liabilities that are not measured at fair value are not 
materially diff erent from their carrying amounts.

the following table provides an analysis of fi nancial instruments 
that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, 
grouped into levels 1 to 3.

-  level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted 
prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities.

-  level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from 
inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that 
are observable, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. 
derived from prices).

-  level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs 
that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 
inputs).

the fair values of fi nancial assets with standard terms and 
conditions and traded on active liquid markets are determined with 
reference to quoted market prices.

the fair value of the company’s derivative fi nancial instruments is 
established by using a valuation technique. valuation techniques 
comprise discounted cash fl ow analysis. the valuation technique is 
consistent with generally accepted economic methodologies for 
pricing fi nancial instruments.

the fair value of interest rate swaps at the end of the reporting 
period is determined by discounting the future cash fl ows using 
the curves at end of the reporting period and the credit risk 
inherent in the contract.
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34. fAIR vALue of fInAncIAL ASSetS And 
fInAncIAL LIABILItIeS (contInued)

Level 1
 Eur 

Level 2
 Eur 

Level 3
 Eur 

Total
 Eur 

financial assets at fair value through profi t or loss
financial assets designated 
as at fair value through profi t or loss upon initial 
recognition
- local listed equity instruments
As at 31.12.2010  989,997  -  -  989,997 

                                                                            
As at 31.12.2011  -  -  -  - 

                                                                                                                                                                                        

Financial liabilities at fair value through profi t 
or loss
financial liabilities held
for trading
- derivative fi nancial instruments
As at 31.12.2010  -  315,764  -  315,764 

                                                                            
As at 31.12.2011  -  402,257  -  402,257 

                                                                                                                                                                                        

35. fInAncIAL RISk mAnAgement 
the exposures to risk and the way risks arise, together with the 
group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing and 
measuring these risks are disclosed in more detail below.

the objectives, policies and processes for managing fi nancial 
risks and the methods used to measure such risks are subject to 
continual improvement and development. Where applicable, any 
signifi cant changes in the group’s exposure to fi nancial risks or the 
manner in which the group manages and measures these risks are 
disclosed below.

Where possible, the group aims to reduce and control risk 
concentrations of fi nancial risk areas when fi nancial instruments 
with similar characteristics are infl uenced in the same way by 
changes in economic or other factors. the amount of the risk 
exposure associated with fi nancial instruments sharing similar 
characteristics is disclosed in more detail in the notes to the 
fi nancial statements.

cRedIt RISk
financial assets which potentially subject the group to 
concentrations of credit risk, consist principally of receivables, 
investments and cash at bank. receivables are presented net 
of an allowance for doubtful debts. An allowance for doubtful 

debts is made where there is an identifi ed loss event which, 
based on previous experience, is evidence of a reduction in the 
recoverability of the cash fl ows. investments are acquired after

 assessing the quality of the relevant investments. cash at bank is 
placed with reliable fi nancial institutions.

the carrying amount of fi nancial assets recorded in the fi nancial 
statements, which is net of impairment losses, represents the 
group’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of 
the value of any collateral obtained.

cuRRency RISk
foreign currency transactions arise when the group buys or sells 
goods or services whose price is denominated in foreign currency, 
borrows or lends funds when the amounts payable or receivable are 
denominated in a foreign currency or acquires or disposes of assets, or 
incurs or settles liabilities, denominated in foreign currency. 

foreign currency transactions comprise mainly transactions entered 
into by the subsidiaries in latvian lats and lithuanian litas.
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35. fInAncIAL RISk mAnAgement 
(contInued)
cuRRency RISk (contInued)

the risk arising from foreign currency transactions entered into 
by the company’s subsidiaries in their local currency is mitigated 
by the fact that such currency has joined the exchange rate 
mechanism (erm ii) as follows:

the latvian lats joined the exchange rate mechanism (erm 
ii) on 2 may 2005, and observes a central rate of 0.702804 to 
the euro with standard fluctuation margins of +/- 15%. However, 
latvia unilaterally maintains a 1% fluctuation band around the 
central rate.

the lithuanian litas joined the exchange rate mechanism (erm 
ii) on 28 June 2004, and observes a central rate of 3.45280 to 
the euro with standard fluctuation margins of +/- 15%.

InteReSt RAte RISk
the group has taken out bank and other facilities to finance 
its operations as disclosed in notes 24 and 25. the interest 
rates thereon and the terms of such borrowings are disclosed 
accordingly. the effective interest rate on loans and receivables, 
other financial liabilities, and bank borrowings are disclosed in 
notes 18, 24 and 25 respectively.

the group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk on borrowings 
and debt instruments carrying a floating interest rate and to 
fair value interest rate risk on borrowings and debt instruments 
carrying a fixed interest rate. investments in equity instruments 
are not exposed to interest rate risk. 

management monitors the movement in interest rates and, where 
possible, reacts to material movements in such rates by adjusting 
its selling prices or by restructuring its financing structure. the 
group uses interest rate swaps to hedge its exposure arising from 
interest rates bank loans.

the carrying amounts of the group’s financial instruments carrying 
a rate of interest at the reporting date are disclosed in the notes to 
the financial statements.

SenSItIvIty AnALySIS
for financial instruments issued, the group has used a sensitivity 
analysis technique that measures the change in the cash flows 
of the group’s financial instruments at the reporting date for 
hypothetical changes in the relevant market risk variables. the 
sensitivity of profit or loss due to changes in the relevant risk 
variables are set out below. 

the amounts generated from the sensitivity analysis are forward-
looking estimates of market risk assuming certain market 
conditions. Actual results in the future may differ materially from 
those projected results due to the inherent uncertainty of global 

financial markets. the sensitivity analysis is for illustrative purposes 
only, as in practice market rates rarely change in isolation and are 
likely to be interdependent.

the methods and assumptions used are the same as those applied 
in the previous reporting period.

the estimated change in cash flows for changes in market  
interest rates are based on an instantaneous increase or decrease 
of 50 basis points at the reporting date, with all other variables 
remaining constant.

the sensitivity of the relevant risk variables is as follows:

              Profit and Loss Sensitivity
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 

market interest rates - cash flow  +/- 34,308  +/- 2,622 
                                                                                            

the sensitivity on profit or loss in respect of market interest rates is 
mainly attributable to bank loans.  the sensitivity to interest rates of 
the company is not materially different to that of the group.

LIquIdIty RISk
the group monitors and manages its risk to a shortage of funds 
by maintaining sufficient cash, by matching the maturity of both 
its financial assets and financial liabilities and by monitoring the 
availability of raising funds to meet commitments associated with 
financial instruments.

the group is exposed to liquidity risk in relation to meeting the 
future obligations associated with its financial liabilities, which 
compromise principally trade and other payables, other financial 
liabilities and interest-bearing borrowings (refer to notes 22, 
23, 24 and 25). prudent liquidity risk management includes 
maintaining sufficient cash and committed credit lines to ensure 
the availability of an adequate amount of funding to meet the 
group’s obligations.

management monitors liquidity risk by means of cash flow 
forecasts on the basis of expected cash flows over a twelve month 
period, which is adjusted monthly and monitored on a weekly basis, 
to ensure that no additional financing facilities are expected to be 
required over the coming year.

the following maturity analysis for financial liabilities shows 
the remaining contractual maturities using the contractual 
undiscounted cash flows on the basis of the earliest date on which 
the group can be required to pay. the analysis includes both 
interest and principal cash flows.
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35. fInAncIAL RISk mAnAgement (contInued)
LIquIdIty RISk (contInued)
gRoup

On demand
 or within 

1 year
 Eur 

2 years
 Eur 

3 years
 Eur 

4 years
 Eur 

 After 
5 years

 Eur 
Total
 Eur 

2011
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Non-interest bearing  9,398,095  -  -  -  -  9,398,095 
variable rate instruments  4,611,644  4,481,959  2,868,055  2,742,537  5,146,435  19,850,630 
fixed rate instruments  2,702,957  3,468,665  3,403,198  2,886,734  27,405,502  39,867,056 

                                                                                                                  
 16,712,696  7,950,624  6,271,253  5,629,271  32,551,937  69,115,781 

                                                                                                                  

2010
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Non-interest bearing  8,628,620  -  -  -  -  8,628,620 
variable rate instruments  2,268,365  2,807,577  2,739,256  2,670,935  7,731,042  18,217,175 
fixed rate instruments  1,803,368  1,803,368  1,768,912  1,700,000  28,754,000  35,829,648 

                                                                                                                  
 12,700,353  4,610,945  4,508,168  4,370,935  36,485,042  62,675,443 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    

hoLdIng

On demand
 or within 

1 year
 Eur 

2 years
 Eur 

3 years
 Eur 

4 years
 Eur 

 After 
5 years

 Eur 
Total
 Eur 

2011
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Non-interest bearing  1,513,638  -  -  -  -  1,513,638 
variable rate instruments  3,075,154  2,955,767  2,845,866  2,735,141  5,146,435  16,758,363 
fixed rate instruments  1,700,000  1,700,000  1,700,000  1,700,000  27,054,000  33,854,000 

                                                                                                                  
 6,288,792  4,655,767  4,545,866  4,435,141  32,200,435  52,126,001 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    

2010
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Non-interest bearing  1,950,060  -  -  -  -  1,950,060 
variable rate instruments  2,268,365  2,807,577  2,739,256  2,670,935  7,731,142  18,217,275 
fixed rate instruments  1,803,368  1,803,368  1,768,912  1,700,000  28,754,000  35,829,648 

                                                                                                                  
 6,021,793  4,610,945  4,508,168  4,370,935  36,485,142  55,996,983 
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35. fInAncIAL RISk mAnAgement 
(contInued)
deRIvAtIve fInAncIAL InStRumentS
the company does not use derivative fi nancial instruments for 
speculative purposes.

the company uses interest rate swaps to convert a proportion of 
its fl oating rate debt to fi xed rates.

During the year under review and during the prior year, the 
company did not designate any of its derivative fi nancial 
instruments in a hedging relationship for accounting purposes.

cApItAL RISk mAnAgement
the company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard 
the company’s and the group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern and to maximise the return to stakeholders through the 
optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

their capital structure consists of items presented within equity in 
the statement of fi nancial position.

the company’s directors manage the capital structure and make 
adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. 
the capital structure is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Based on 
recommendations of the directors, the company and the group 
balance their overall capital structure through new share issues as 
well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

the overall strategy remains unchanged from the prior year.

36. eventS AfteR the RepoRtIng peRIod
on the 28 february 2012 the court of Appeal (superior 
Jurisdiction), upheld an earlier decision of the first Hall of the 
civil court, ordering the eviction of Arcades limited, a jointly 
controlled entity of the group, of part of the premises operated 
as the mcDonald’s restaurant in republic street valletta. the 
judgement had no impact on any of the operations undertaken by 
other companies’ within the group, neither did it have an impact on 
the operating licence of the jointly controlled entity.

it is the group’s intention to retain a presence in valetta and has 
since commenced seeking alternative sites with a view to securing 
an appropriate alternative.

58



59rep ort A ND group 
fiN A NciA l s tAtmeNts 2011



60



61rep ort A ND group 
fiN A NciA l s tAtmeNts 2011



 i Detailed profi t and loss account
 ii cost of sales
 iii Distribution costs
 iv Administrative expenses
 

  these schedules do not form part 
  of the statutory fi nancial statements.

Schedules
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ScheduLe I

Schedule

Group
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 

Holding
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 

revenue  72,652,250  51,695,336  -  - 
cost of sales ii  (24,982,964)  (17,609,386)  -  - 

                                                                            
gross profi t/(loss)  47,669,286  34,085,950  -  - 

                                                                            

other operating income  172,516  655,678  2,267,469  1,644,782 
Distribution costs iii  (38,407,764)  (27,537,256)  -  - 
Administrative expenses iv  (7,521,269)  (5,053,936)  (2,144,091)  (1,676,137)

                                                                            
Net operating 
(expenses)/income  (45,756,517)  (31,935,514)  123,378  (31,355)

                                                                            
operating profi t/(loss)  1,912,769  2,150,436  123,378  (31,355)

                                                                                                                                                                                        

ScheduLe II

Group
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 

Holding
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 

stock movement  (98,754)  (63,316)  -  - 
purchases  25,081,718  17,672,702  -  - 

                                                                            
 24,982,964  17,609,386  -  - 
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ScheduLe III

Group
2011

Eur
2010

Eur

Holding
2011

Eur
2010

Eur

Advertising  3,800,058  2,805,844  -  - 
Depreciation and amortisation  3,357,174  2,561,970  -  - 
maintenance and repair  817,700  576,292  -  - 
other distribution costs  475,641  398,540  -  - 
Hr & related expenses  324,161  330,976  -  - 
outside services and operating supplies  1,622,087  1,191,826  -  - 
Wages and salaries  17,896,717  12,324,008  -  - 
rent expenses  3,428,583  1,992,812  -  - 
royalties  3,663,159  3,070,907  -  - 
utilities and telephone expenses  3,022,484  2,284,081  -  - 

                                                                            
total distribution costs  38,407,764  27,537,256  -  - 
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ScheduLe Iv

Group
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 

Holding
2011

 Eur 
2010

 Eur 

Audit fee 102,600  84,760  18,000  16,500 
Bank charges 125,004  125,544  -  - 
charity 18,725  38,592  125  10,000 
cleaning expenses 967  1,343  967  1,343 
computer expenses 6,290  24,372  6,290  1,695 
Depreciation 964,499  718,545  637,228  626,780 
Diff erence on exchange   -   24,902   -    -  
Director's emoluments 125,358  118,513  28,669  22,000 
entertainment 9,486  9,301  9,486  9,301 
general expenses 1,027,878 469,958  19,516  18,997 
insurance 223,845  129,319  18,819  11,265 
inventory write-downs  -   -    -    -  
legal and professional fees 516,433  292,354  99,442  54,687 
loss on disposal of fi xed assets 41,955  12,369  -  - 
licenses and fees 23,370  23,324   -    -  
motor vehicle expenses 195,147  106,608  4,236  645 
printing, postage and offi  ce supplies 51,551  62,996  2,864  6,275 
real estate tax 4,286   -    -    -  
registration fee 1,570  870  1,400  870 
rental and distribution costs 453,244  159,057  126,440  107,187 
repairs and maintenance 7,422  1,226  4,543  1,226 
staff  training 75,770  28,477  26,672  7,536 
subscriptions 1,620  2,099   -    -  
telecommunication expenses 80,151  46,030  16,699  9,930 
travelling 562,251  386,009  227,113  169,824 
Wages and salaries 2,733,174  2,164,520  887,372  592,899 
utilities 168,674  22,848  8,210  7,177 

                                                                            
 7,521,269  5,053,936  2,144,091  1,676,137 
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